
 

Democratic Services 
Council Offices 
CAERNARFON 

Gwynedd 
LL55 1SH 

 

 

 

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

 
 

  
 

Meeting 
 

COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 

 

 
Date and Time 

 
10.30 am, THURSDAY, 10TH MARCH, 2022 

 
NOTE – BRIEFING MEETING FOR MEMBERS TO START 10:10  

 

 
 

 
Location 

 
Zoom 

 
Contact us to join virtual meeting. 

A recording of the meeting will be available following the meeting 
 
 

 

 

Contact Point 

Ffion Bryn Jones 

ffionbrynjones@gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

(DISTRIBUTED 02/03/22) 

Complete Agenda

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/


 

COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MEMBERSHIP (18) 
 

Plaid Cymru (10) 
 

Councillors 
 

Elwyn Edwards Simon Glyn Annwen Hughes 
Aled Wyn Jones Berwyn Parry Jones Linda Morgan 

Dafydd Owen Edgar Wyn Owen Gethin Glyn Williams 
Gwynfor Owen   

 
 

Independent (5) 
 

Councillors 
 

Elwyn Jones Kevin Morris Jones 
Elfed Powell Roberts Angela Russell 

Mike Stevens  
 
 

Llais Gwynedd (2) 
 

Councillors 
 

Robert Glyn Daniels Owain Williams 
 
 

Individual Member (1) 
 

Councillor 
Stephen W. Churchman 

 
 

Ex-officio Members 
Chair and Vice-Chair of the Council  

 
 

Other Invited Members 
 

Councillor 
                    Dyfrig Siencyn                                                             Gareth Griffith 

 
  



 

 

A G E N D A 
 

1.   APOLOGIES 
 

 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
 

2.   DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive any declaration of personal interest 

 
 

3.   URGENT ITEMS 
 

 

 To note any items that are a matter of urgency in the view of the Chairman 
for consideration. 

 

 

4.   MINUTES 
 

4 - 10 

 The Chairman shall propose that the minutes of the meeting of this 
Committee, held on 13 January 2022, be signed as a true record.   

 

 

5.   UPDATE - PARKING REVIEW 
 

11 - 13 

 THE CABINET MEMBER – COUNCILLOR GARETH GRIFFITH 
 
To update the Committee on the progress to date in terms of managing 
vehicles and powers in relation to motorists who park illegally. 
 

 

6.   CLIMATE AND NATURE EMERGENCY PLAN 
 

14 - 56 

 CABINET MEMBER – COUNCILLOR DYFRIG SIENCYN 
 
An update on what the Council is currently doing to meet the challenges of 
climate change and nature and other steps that are practical for the Council 
to act on in future. 

 

 

 



COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 13/01/22 

 

 

COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 13/01/22 
 

 
Present: Councillor Berwyn Parry Jones (Chair) 
  Councillor Glyn Daniels (Vice-chair)   
 
Councillors: Stephen Churchman, Elwyn Edwards, Annwen Hughes, Aled Wyn Jones, Elwyn 
Jones, Linda Morgan, Edgar Wyn Owen, Gwynfor Owen, Elfed P. Roberts, Angela Russell, Mike 
Stevens, Gethin Williams and Owain Williams.  
 
Officers in attendance: Llywela Owain (Senior Language and Scrutiny Advisor), Bethan Adams 
(Scrutiny Advisor) and Natalie Jones (Democracy Service Officer). 
 
Present for item 5: 
 
Councillor Dafydd Meurig (Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and Well-being), Mannon Trappe 
(Senior Manager, Safeguarding, Quality Assurance and Mental Health), Daron Owens 
(Community Safety Operational and Projects Officer).  
 
Present for item 6: 
 
Steffan Jones (Head of the Highways and Municipal Department), Peter Simpson (Streetscene 
Manager). 
 
Present for item 7: 
 
Steffan Jones (Head of Highways and Municipal Department), Meirion Williams (Assistant Head 
of Highways and Municipal).  
 
Present for item 8: 
Dafydd Wyn Williams (Head of Environment Department), Bethan Richardson (Climate Change 
Programme Manager). 
 
 
1.   APOLOGIES 

 
 Apologies were received from Councillors Simon Glyn, Kevin Morris Jones and Dafydd 

Owen along with Councillor Catrin Wager (Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Municipal). 
 

 
2.   DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST 

 
 No declarations of personal interest were received. 

 
 
3.   URGENT ITEMS 

 
 None to note. 

 
 
4.   MINUTES 

 

Page 4

Agenda Item 4



COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 13/01/22 

 The Chair signed the minutes of the previous meeting of this committee held on 4 
November 2021 as a true record.  
 

 
5.   ANNUAL UPDATE BY THE COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 

 
 The report was submitted by the Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and Well-being, who 

gave the background and context, and noted that local authorities had a statutory duty to 
work in partnership with the Police, the Health Service, the Probation Service and the 
Fire and Rescue Service, to address the local community safety agenda.  He explained 
that a strategic assessment was undertaken to identify regional priorities, the local plans 
to address these priorities were before the Committee.  

 
He handed over to the Community Safety Implementation and Projects Officer. An 
overview was given of the principal points within the report and it was explained that the 
partnership was required to formally report to the Committee annually to give an update 
on the partnership's work. The main milestones achieved during the latest period were 
noted and an overview of the work underway was given. 

 
During the discussion, the following main points were noted by members: 

 A question was asked about the five action points that had not been 
achieved for nearly two years.  What were the next steps to be 
undertaken? 

 Reference was made to the work of identifying appropriate buildings for 
the substance abuse team in Bangor and it was asked if it was possible to 
get further information.  

 An enquiry was made about the street pastors scheme and why they were 
not operational as the Council had been using Zoom for eighteen months, 
could they not also use it? 

 It was asked if work regarding modern slavery was part of the partnership.  

 Disappointment was expressed that other representatives from the 
partnership were not present to answer questions.  

 It was asked how much work the partnership undertook to work jointly to 
prevent crimes such as domestic abuse.  

 A member noted that she was concerned about the increase in people 
who required mental health support, those misusing alcohol and the 
homelessness particularly in Gwynedd.  

 It was asked if it was possible to have a meeting with the new Police and 
Crime Commissioner, his predecessor had been before the Full Council in 
the past.   

 It was stated that the topics within the report were relevant to youth clubs 
and it was asked if youth clubs were part of the partnership.  

 The idea of inviting the Police and Crime Commissioner to the Full Council 
was supported for all members to be able to meet him.   

 A question was asked about cyber crime as problems arose on social 
media websites with people disclosing data by responding to general 
questions. There was a need to bring pressure to bear on social media 
companies to act when cases were reported.    

 This was reiterated and it was noted that it was a problem throughout the 
country, the Westminster Government needed to act.   

 
In response the officers noted: 

 In terms of the five actions, it had not been possible to deliver these due to 
other priorities. Some would also be considered again in the future.  

 In relation to the street pastors, over lockdown people did not go out as 

Page 5



COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 13/01/22 

public houses were closed, therefore they were not needed.  In addition, 
as the restrictions were relaxed they did not feel safe to be out due to 
covid-19.  It was added that it would be possible to re-visit this in the 
future.  

 It was noted that the information regarding suitable buildings for the 
substance misuse team would be provided to the member following this 
Committee.  

 Thus far, there had been no cases of modern slavery in Gwynedd, 
however, there was an awareness that this was a matter that may arise in 
any area.  

 It was noted that the consultation on the domestic and sexual abuse 
strategy was open until 1 February.  In terms of the education field, 
matters regarding healthy relationships would become part of the new 
curriculum for Wales.   

 Agencies had been offering virtual support and support work with alcohol 
abuse during the pandemic. 

 That it was possible for the Youth Service to feed into the partnership's 
work.  

 Cyber crime was a matter that the Police took seriously and they held 
training for older people to raise awareness.  The matter would be raised 
at the Partnership meeting and to ask what was the response received 
from social media companies when reporting.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. To accept the content of the report and supplementary documents and note 
the observations, and support the priorities and direction of the work in the 
future. 

2. To contact the Chair of the Council to note the Committee's wish to extend 
an invitation to the Police and Crime Commissioner to a meeting of the Full 
Council. 

3. To ask the partnership to consider having other members of the 
partnership to be in attendance at the Communities Scrutiny Committee's 
Crime and Disorder meeting. 

 
 

 
6.   STREET CLEANSING 

 
 The report was presented by the Head of the Highways and Municipal Department, who 

guided members through the main matters.    
 

It was noted that the Council had a statutory responsibility to ensure that public highways 
and public open spaces were free of litter. It was a visible and important service 
especially during the period of the pandemic. It was explained that Street Services 
covered all the public sites and adopted roads managed by the Council. 

 
It was highlighted that areas had been divided into zones according to their use. It was 
explained that the cleanliness of an area was assessed by comparison with standard, 
the standards ranged from Grade A to D.  It was elaborated that alternative response 
times were allowed to clean the areas and return them to the appropriate standard.   

 
It was noted that the Department had faced cuts in the past, and additional pressure as a 
result of the increase in tourism.  Details were given of the Service's vision and the 
Committee was asked for their observations on the vision.  

Page 6



COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 13/01/22 

 
The Street Services Manager reiterated the observations of the Head of Service with the 
following points:    

 He referred to the Code of Practice and noted, due to the Covid situation, 

that a new one would not be introduced within the year.  He noted that 

there was legislation in England to penalise car owners throwing litter, this 

was not available in Wales but was being considered.  

 He noted that as part of the pilot, four smart bins had been ordered and 

these would be solar powered.  The bin would crush the litter several 

times before sending a signal to notify officers that the bin needed to be 

emptied.  

 
During the discussion, the following main observations were made by members: 

 The vision was welcomed and there was an enquiry about street recycling 
bins. It was noted that people placed litter accidentally or without thinking 
in the wrong bin and further information was requested about the collection 
process and staffing requirements to divide and sort materials. 

 There was a question about voluntary litter collection groups and it was 
noted that there were regular events across the country and in Gwynedd 
and it was a good idea for the public to be part of the process.  

 It was asked what the arrangements were with road sweeping and if this 
continued in rural areas. It was added that keeping roads clean was a 
means to avoid flooding.  

 The matter of weeds on pavements, especially those used less frequently, 
was raised.   

 Reference was made to the Clean and Tidy Communities Team and the 
need to inform members of the team's work.  

 Complaints were received regarding green signs and with litter campaigns 
re-commencing with black bags left behind street bins.  Could 
consideration be given to sweeping the cycling paths after cutting 
vegetation? A query was raised about arrangements to clean chewing 
gum.  

 It was pleasing that children's education had been included as one of the 
next steps, however, adults could create more problems e.g. not cleaning 
up dog mess.  A bone-shaped receptacle had been shown by fellow 
councillors on social media to hold dog faeces bags.  Were these available 
to other members?   

 Staff were aware of problematic areas, bins should continue to be emptied 
regularly rather than use smart bins.   

 The need to re-visit the role of volunteers and councillors, not enough 
penalties were given in accordance with the regulations to keep dogs on a 
lead and to pick up dog mess.  

 Why did the Council hand out dog mess bags to dog owners, when this 
was their responsibility?  

 Where would the smart bins as part of the pilot be located?  

 When would the campaign commence to raise awareness regarding 
picking up dog mess? 

 Community bin sites needed to be kept tidy and the need to conduct a 
deep clean in town centres.    

 
In response, the Head of Service and Street Services Manager noted the following: 

 In relation to the street recycling bins, that there were 3 or 4 sections in the 
bin for different materials.  Slight contamination of materials was seen in 

Page 7



COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 13/01/22 

the recycling bins.  The message regarding recycling continued to be 
communicated. 

 There was a need to co-ordinate volunteer group litter picking campaigns 
giving consideration to access to equipment and appropriate locations to 
leave litter for collection.   

 Street sweeping in rural areas was undertaken at least once a year with 
sweeping in villages at least once a month. It was another team that 
sprayed weeds on pavements and this was undertaken at least once a 
year.  

 A note would be sent to all Council members with information about the 
Clean and Tidy Communities Team.  

 The team also cleaned signs. They would also be informed outside the 
meeting about where to leave the black bags.  As part of the review, 
consideration would be given to sweeping the cycling paths after cutting 
vegetation. 

 It was difficult to clean chewing gum, a new machine had been purchased 
via grant monies to trial its use.  It was hoped that this work would become 
part of the Clean and Tidy Communities Team work.  

 Education was essential and specific activity would be held.   

 Members could contact the Street Services Manager to request the bone 
shape receptacle and arrangements would be made to give these to the 
warden in the area. 

 There had been pressure on staff over the last two years, and the 
arrangements to empty bins would be looked at as part of the review. It 
was believed that there a place for smart bins particularly in remote areas.   

 There was a need to look in greater detail regarding the situation with dog 
mess, and consideration would be given to employ more enforcement 
wardens. 

 Following the advent of new legislation, it was not possible for volunteers 
to take enforcement measures, however, volunteers will be considered to 
distribute packs and to give advice to dog owners. They were happy to 
have a further discussion.   

 Free sample packs used to be given as a marketing tactic, however, this 
did not continue.  

 It was intended to locate the smart bins in busy urban locations.  

 Raising awareness was an on-going matter.  As part of Caru Cymru, a 
national campaign 'Leave only pawprints' was being promoted on social 
media. New signs were being trialled and small signs visible in the dark 
had been erected in Dolgellau.  If members wanted to trial new signage 
they should contact the Street Services Manager.   

 
RESOLVED to accept the report and to note the observations received. 
 

 
7.   GRASS CUTTING AND ROAD VERGE MAINTENANCE 

 
 The report was presented by the Head of the Highways and Municipal Department, who 

gave the background and context to the report.  He noted, in order to undertake these 
duties it was necessary to prepare and adopt a grass cutting policy for road verges, that 
considered the needs of road users, as well as wildlife needs.  He referred to the review 
of grass cutting arrangements and the proposed maintenance system that was before 
the committee for discussion.  
 
The Assistant Head of Highways and Municipal gave details of some of the measures 
being taken.  He noted that the Department was working closely with the Senior 

Page 8



COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 13/01/22 

Biodiversity Officer to identify specific areas for grass collection after cutting.  He referred 
to the 'better verges' project with the Social Farms and Gardens charity, that would be 
conducted in the 2022-23 financial year.  He noted that Plantlife had published a 
document in the context of countryside road verges and had received the Welsh 
Government's seal of approval.     
 
During the ensuing discussion, the following observations were made by members: 

 Some supported amending the grass cutting arrangements to improve 
biodiversity, however, others did not support this.  

 They received complaints about trees protruding into the roads, could it be 
possible to adapt the cutting height in some cases?   A balance was 
needed between promoting biodiversity and road safety issues. It may be 
an option to cut only one side in some places. Very supportive of a full cut 
at the end of October to deal with overgrowth of scrub and of the opinion 
that grass cutting in August was too late in rural areas.     

 There was a need to cut in 30mph areas.   Areas were tidier when cut 
grass was collected.  What were the considerations when reaching a 
conclusion about grass collection after cutting?  A cut in August would be 
too late in his area - would it be possible to have a rota regarding which 
areas would be cut first?   

 Certainly, narrow lanes needed attention.  It was important for biodiversity 
that some areas were left.  The Council should take photographs when 
wild-flowers were at their peak and use these for promotion purposes. 

 Litter became evident following grass cutting and there was a need to co-
ordinate arrangements.  Complaints had been received regarding thorns 
scratching cars on narrow lanes and tractors used to cut were too wide and 
brought down walls.  In narrow areas consideration should be given to 
using hedge cutting machinery.    

 That attitudes were changing about grass cutting with more consideration 
being given to biodiversity.  Supportive of not cutting if it was acceptable in 
terms of safety.     

 
In response to the above observations, the officers noted that: 

 There was a movement to undertaking a full cut later on in the year.  There 
was a need to identify specific areas to promote biodiversity including 
planting. The use of a sprayer for weed killing would be looked at including 
placing more emphasis on using a sweeper in its place.  

 Hedges were cut up to a height of 1 metre, any growth above this was the 
owner's responsibility. Consideration would be given to specific areas as 
part of the review. 

 Attention would be given to the member's comments. In terms of the 
collection of all the grass following a cut, consideration needed to be given 
to the resources and the time involved as it would certainly entail a cost for 
the Council.  

 The Committee was thanked for the observations, attention would be given 
to the matters raised and they would return to the Committee to report on 
what had been undertaken.  It was noted that the Department was dealing 
with Ash Die-back work, that may be a matter for the Committee to 
consider in the future.  

 
RESOLVED to accept the report and to note the observations received. 
 
 

 
8.   CLIMATE CHANGE BOARD 

Page 9



COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 13/01/22 

 
 It was noted that following a discussion in the context of the Climate Change Board 

membership at a meeting of the Committee on 23 September 2021, under the item 
'Climate Change', a request had been received to elect a member to represent the 
Committee on the Board.    
 
It was explained that the Board had invited Councillor Angela Russell as Biodiversity 
Champion, and extended an invitation to the Committee to nominate another member 
with an interest in this field and was eager to contribute to the work. 
 
RESOLVED to elect Councillor Mike Stevens to represent the Communities 
Scrutiny Committee on the Climate Change Board. 
 
 
At the end of the meeting, the Chair took the opportunity to thank Natalie Lloyd Jones 
(Democracy Services Officer) for her work. Best wishes were extended to her in the 
future.  
 

 
 

The meeting commenced at 10.40 am and concluded at 1.15 pm 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 10



NAME OF SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 

Communities Scrutiny Committee  

DATE OF MEETING 10 March 2022 

 

TITLE Update - Parking Review 

AUTHOR Dafydd Wyn Williams, Head of Environment Department 

 

CABINET MEMBER Councillor Gareth W Griffith 

 

PURPOSE To update the Committee on the progress to date in terms of 

managing vehicles and powers in relation to motorists who park 

illegally. 

 

1. BACKGROUND  

1.1. Councillors who were part of the Parking Task Group: 

Councillors: Angela Russell; Annwen Hughes; Kevin Morris Jones; Gethin Glyn Williams 

Officers supporting the Task Group:  Dafydd Williams (Head of Environment 

Department); Ceri Hughes Thomas (Parking and Street Works Manager); Gwenan Huws 

Tomos (Parking Team Leader). 

1.2  The group was established in July 2019 to undertake a comprehensive review of the 

current operational parking strategy and consider its suitability and relevance to the 

Council's requirements and the requirements of Communities today.   

1.3      Gwynedd Council's parking policies and procedures had remained more or less the 

same since 2015, therefore advantage was taken of the opportunity to recommend 

improvements that are in keeping with the situation of the local economy and to 

maximise the use of software which is now available.  Reviewing the arrangements was 

also inevitable in terms of financial sustainability in relation to the authority’s budgets to 

ensure that our practical management arrangements are effective and efficient. 

1.4     A comprehensive report was submitted to the Communities Scrutiny Committee in 

December 2020 proposing appropriate recommendations for resolving most of the 

matters. Subsequently to this, a final report was presented before the Cabinet Members 

in February 2021. The Council Members approved the recommendations below; 

 Adopt a new Parking Fees Structure 

 Review the parking proposal over the Christmas period 

 No changes to the Blue Badge Scheme 

 No changes to the Resident Parking Scheme 

 Strengthen the Parking Enforcement Team 

1.5        The Author wishes to confirm that the recommendations deriving from the review have 

been implemented.  

1.6        It was also recognised that a number of changes had taken place during the previous 

few years, which had a considerable impact on our communities in the context of 

parking. It was identified that the main changes were more electric vehicles, a 

reduction in cash use, events held in the County, increase in the use of houses and 

holiday homes for holiday accommodation and an increase in the use of motorhomes.  

Officers from the Department have been busy looking into these subjects. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



2.  UPDATE  

 

2.1   The Author wished to update the reader on two relevant subjects, which were 

motorhomes and the powers of towing vehicles away. 

 

MOTORHOMES 

 

2.2. In Gwynedd, concerns have risen in a number of communities across the County, as 

an increasing number of motorhome owners decided to stay in locations and on 

‘public’ land, where there was no lawful right to sleep in a vehicle overnight. This was 

a historical pattern but is one that had become more evident since the pandemic with 

travelling abroad restrictions encouraging this. 

 

2.3 In order to understand the real situation in Gwynedd, it was agreed that it would be 

useful to   conduct research work and this work included engaging with the operators 

of caravan sites in Gwynedd, the motorhome sector as well as communities across the 

County. The research work was completed last year and it included evidence that 

highlighted the need for measures to manage the motorhome sector in the County 

better. The research work was reported to the Cabinet in November 2021, and the 

Cabinet resolved: 

 

i. To authorise the Head of Environment Department, in consultation with the 

Head of Economy and Community to hold a pilot project to use up to six of the 

Council’s parking sites (or part of the sites) within the Gwynedd Planning 

Authority Area, to provide facilities for motor homes to stay overnight, including 

the designation of the locations, but subject to securing capital funding and 

necessary permissions. 

ii. That a further report on the outcomes of the pilot were submitted to the Cabinet 

within three years. 

iii. Give consideration to, and take enforcement measures to accompany the 

above. 

iv. Present the research to the Welsh Government and ask them to review the 

Caravans and Development Control Act 1960. 

 

2.4 A cross-departmental Motorhome Project Board has been established by now in order 

to implement the Cabinet’s decision, with the work undertaken to identify suitable sites 

for the pilot project, designing the sites in terms of their layouts and any associated 

services, and submit applications for planning permission. Consideration will also need 

to be given to site management and compliance. The current timetable (dependent 

on the planning permission) is for the first pilot to be operational before the end of 

March 2023. The objective is that any additional enforcement measures will 

accompany the provision of the sites for the facilities for motorhomes to stay overnight. 

 

2.5 The Council continues to collaborate with the National Park in terms of matters relating 

to the motorhome sector generally, with preparations such as renewing signage and 

communication plans in the pipeline for the spring term. 

 

POWERS OF TOWING VEHICLES 

Overview of the problem 

2.6 Motorists who park illegally and inconsiderately by creating dangers to other users are 

a general problem throughout Gwynedd and beyond. 

2.7 Unfortunately, the side effect of Covid-19 has maximised parking problems across the 

County, due to a significant increase in the number of visitors and the lack of parking 

locations.  

Page 12



2.8 Huge problems were experienced as hundreds of motorists travelled in the direction of 

Pen y Pass with the intention to roam the mountains, and decided to park on the 

highway after realising that the car park was full.  

2.9 Pen y Pass is being governed by parking restrictions in the form of a clearway. As you 

know, the road in question is narrow with a daily, heavy traffic flow, including cyclists 

and a local bus service that uses the road often. Vehicles were parking illegally and 

were creating a significant risk for pedestrians too as they had to walk along the 

highway.  

Way Forward 

2.10 Parking illegally is very problematic, and despite the efforts of the Council’s Parking 

Enforcement Officers to fine motorists, this effort unfortunately did not dispose of the 

dangers straight away.  

2.11 Some of the motorists even welcomed the fine and believed that £35 was reasonable 

for a day out in such a beautiful location. Of course, this is totally unacceptable. 

2.12 The Council had collaborated closely with North Wales Police and Snowdonia National 

Park in order to take suitable steps to tackle the problem in Pen y Pass and along the 

A4086 by sharing resources to closely monitor and use the powers of the Police to tow 

vehicles away. Through strong publicity, regular monitoring and a no-nonsense 

approach, the problem was brought under control.   

2.13 Strong publicity and regular monitoring have proven to be successful methods but 

even though the situation had improved significantly, it was premature to think that the 

problem had completely disappeared.  

2.14 The willingness of North Wales Police to assist the Council with towing vehicles away 

had been invaluable, despite this, it became clear that it wasn't reasonably practical 

for these arrangements to continue in the long term due to the lack of Police Officers 

on weekends and the need to deal with other priorities. 

2.15 Therefore, it was timely for the Council to adopt their own appropriate powers in order 

to deal with vehicles that park illegally and cause obstructions or dangers for other 

highway users, without having to depend on the emergency services’ resources. These 

powers were approved in September 2021. 

Additional Measures 

2.16 Adopting the powers was certainly a sensible step. Despite this, the Author would like 

to emphasise that only under extreme circumstances, where there's a direct risk or 

danger to members of the public, are these powers to be used.  

2.17 It is proposed to install additional signs in the more problematic locations to highlight 

the message 'Parking is Prohibited - Towing zone', making it entirely clear for motorists. 

Additionally, we will ensure that there is plenty of publicity on the matter. 

2.18 We are hopeful that the powers will be put to little or no use. Should the need arise, the 

costs associated with collecting and keeping the vehicle in a safe compound by 

Gwalia company will be transferred to the owners. 

 

 

Page 13



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE Communities Scrutiny Committee 

MEETING DATE 10 March 2022 

TITLE Climate and Nature Emergency Plan 

AUTHOR Dafydd Wyn Williams, Head of Environment 

CABINET MEMBER Cllr. Dyfrig Siencyn, Leader 

PURPOSE An update on what the Council is currently doing to meet the 
challenges of climate change and nature and other steps that are 
practical for the Council to act on in future. 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 The Council declared a climate emergency at their meeting on 7 March 2019, committing to 

taking decisive action to reduce our contribution to those issues that cause climate change 

and protect our communities from its impacts.  

1.2 At a Council meeting on 19 December 2019 a progress report was passed which noted that a 

taskforce had been established by the Cabinet – the Climate Change Board – and that is 

would develop a ‘Climate Change Action Plan’.  

1.3 A progress report was discussed by this committee on 23 September 2021 which stated that: 

 A Programme Manager had been appointed in July 2021 to lead on the work of 

developing the action plan 

 Work to map current provision and activities in the climate change field was already 

underway, and examples of relevant projects were shared 

 Further steps had already been identified – e.g. how could the council implement its 

Biodiversity Duty Plan; the need to incorporate the flooding, fleet and waste strategies 

into the Climate Action Plan; how best to promote the circular economy; the need for 

broader consultation in the future on how we can reduce the carbon emissions of 

Gwynedd as a county. 

 

2. UPDATE 

2.1 The Climate and Nature Emergency Plan was presented to a meeting of the Cabinet on 8 

March 2022. By the date of the Communities Scrutiny Committee on 10 March it will be 

known if the plan has been adopted of not. All relevant papers can be viewed under Item 6 

on the Cabinet meeting agenda by following this link - Agenda for The Cabinet on Tuesday, 

8th March, 2022, 1.00 pm (llyw.cymru) or the plan can be seen in Appendix 1. 

2.2 The Climate and Nature Emergency Plan has been developed under the strategic lead of the 

Climate Emergency Board, who’s membership included Cabinet Members and Chief Officers. 

It was the wish of the Board to expand its membership and it was decided to invite the 

Biodiversity Champion and a representative from the Communities Scrutiny Committee to 

become members. Cllr. Angela Russell and Cllr. Mike Stevens have now joined the Climate 

Change Board to fulfil those two roles.  

Page 14

Agenda Item 6

https://democracy.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/ielistdocuments.aspx?cid=133&mid=4531&ver=4
https://democracy.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/ielistdocuments.aspx?cid=133&mid=4531&ver=4


2.3 The plan will be monitored following the Council’s current performance monitoring 

procedures: Cabinet Member’s performance reports to Cabinet meetings and Gwynedd 

Council Annual Performance Report. A data report on the levels of carbon emissions and 

sequestration will also be presented annually to the Welsh Government, and that data will 

also be shared in the council’s Annual Performance Report. This Scrutiny Committee can 

also, of course, call for updates on the plan as a whole or on individual projects within the 

plan.  

 

3. NEXT STEPS AND TIMETABLE  

3.1  The publication of this version of the Climate and Nature Emergency Plan is considered to be 

‘Phase 1’. 'Phase 2' of the Plan will follow by 2023/24 after we have held consultations, and 

will include more information on how we can support activities in the community and how 

to respond to flood risk. 

3.2 The plan states openly that the current funds available to the council at this moment in time 

aren’t sufficient to cover the whole costs of all the projects in the plan. Further work needs 

to be done to identify the true costs and to influence governments, and others, in order to 

attract more funds. A further financial report will be prepared for the Climate Change Board 

and the Cabinet in order to prioritise the projects to be funded over the next 3 years.  

 

 APPENDIX 

 Appendix 1 – Climate and Nature Emergency Plan 

Page 15



 

0 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

Climate and Nature Emergency Plan 

2022/23 – 2029/30 

Gwynedd Council 

March 2022 

P
age 16



 

1 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

Contents  

1. Introduction         2 

2. The Council Leader’s Foreword      3 

3. Gwynedd Council in 2030      4 

4. What is net zero carbon and why is it important?   6 

5. Responding to the Effects of Climate Change   8 

6. This Plan         9 

• Partners         9 

• How will we measure success?   10 

• Measuring our carbon emissions   11 

• Planning to achieve net zero carbon  13 

• Finance     14 

• Timetable       14 

 

7. Buildings and Energy    15 

8. Mobility and Transport   20 

9. Waste      24 

10. Governance      27 

11. Procurement     30 

12. Land Use      32 

13. Ecology      36 

14. Partners      39 

15. Strategies and Policies    40 

 

 

 

  

P
age 17



 

2 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

1. Introduction 

 

 

Climate change is one of the biggest challenges of our times, and 

calls for co-ordinated action from each one of us. As a result of the 

dramatic change in temperature seen world-wide since the 1950s 

we are experiencing serious effects such as receding glaciers, rising 

sea levels and changes in the seasons. Extreme weather resulting in 

drought or flooding are also becoming regular occurrences. One of 

the main contributors to this rise in temperature is the high levels 

of carbon released into the atmosphere by human activity. 

In March 2019 Gwynedd Council declared a climate emergency, 

and vowed to take definitive steps to reduce carbon emissions and 

to work towards a carbon-free future. We now believe that we also 

need to give equal weight to the nature emergency since both co-

exist in parallel. Changes to temperature and rainfall as a result of 

climate change can lead to loss of habitat for nature and wildlife, 

and the loss of such habitat in turn increases the carbon levels in 

the atmosphere. It is vicious circle that must be broken. 

We acknowledge that the long-term ambition of Gwynedd Council 

is to reach the ideal scenario of being a carbon-free council. In 

order for us to achieve this we need to plan how to respond and 

overcome the challenges facing us. One target that we can plan for, 

whilst we’re on the journey, is how to become a net zero council by 

2030. 

The aim of the Climate and Nature Emergency Plan is to outline the 

steps that we will take between 2022 and 2030 to reach our 

ambition of being a net zero council. 

 

 

  

P
age 18



 

3 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

2. The Council Leader’s Foreword 
 

It's so easy to take things for granted isn't it? How 
easy it is to forget how privileged we are to live in 
one of the most beautiful counties of Wales, if 
not the most beautiful! The environment and 
nature of Gwynedd are as unique and special as 
its people and language, and are therefore 
treasures that should be protected.   

But Gwynedd is not unique at all in another way. We, like all other 
parts of Wales and the world, are already experiencing the effects 
of climate change. We can't ignore those effects and action has to 
be taken to alleviate them. It is therefore a privilege to introduce 
this Climate and Nature Emergency Plan, which will show how we 
as a council will respond to the huge challenges ahead.  

I am delighted that the council has already reduced our carbon 
emissions by 58% between 2005/06 and 2019/20. This has given us 
a very robust foundation in planning the journey towards becoming 
a net-zero carbon council ultimately. It is on this foundation that 
the Climate and Nature Emergency Plan has been built.  

I would like to thank the members of the council's Climate Change 
Board, both councillors and officers, for their work and enthusiasm 
in creating this plan. Teamwork brought the plan to fruition, and 
we can only implement it as one team. This is not a plan for 
'environmental' areas of work, but a plan that will touch on the 
work of all elected members and staff of Gwynedd Council.   

While this first publication of the plan focuses on the council's own 
work, and changes how we operate, we are also looking out 
towards our communities and partners. We will develop the plan 
over the coming years, and we are keen to do so by listening to and 
working with organisations and residents across Gwynedd.   

Our children and young people are fully aware of the effects of 
climate change, and they are paying attention to what we as adults 
are doing in order to respond to the problems facing the planet. I'm 
very proud that we have a young generation who are interested 
enough in current affairs to want to put pressure on the people 
who take decisions. After all, it is their future, and that of every 
other generation to come, that we are shaping with our actions 
today. It is our moral responsibility as adults, and primarily for 
those of us who have the influence to change habits, to take the 
right decisions.   

I view the Climate and Nature Emergency Plan as one piece in a 
large jigsaw that will help safeguard the future of our land and 
children. It is no less than our legacy for the Gwynedd of the future. 

 

 

Councillor Dyfrig Siencyn 

Leader of Gwynedd Council 

P
age 19



 

4 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

3. Gwynedd Council in 2030 

 

 

We have drawn up the Climate and Nature Emergency Plan in order 

to share how we will try and realise our ambition, namely: 

“Gwynedd Council will be net zero carbon and ecologically positive 

by 2030.” 

This will be our measure, and we will plan our actions based on our 

belief that we can achieve this ambition. 

This ambition is in keeping with the Welsh Government’s target for 

the public sector in Wales to be net zero carbon by 2030, and more 

can be found about this target in their document published in 2019 

Prosperity for All: A Low Carbon Wales and in 2021 Net Zero Wales: 

Carbon Budget 2 (2021-2025). The Government has extended its 

target beyond the public sector since the Environment (Wales) Act 

2016 (Environment Act) makes it a legal obligation for the Welsh 

Government to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in Wales by at 

least 80% by 2050. The Environment Act also places new 

obligations in relation to the decrease in biodiversity in Wales, and 

our hope is that this plan will also contribute to the ambition of 

maintaining healthy ecological systems and biodiversity for the 

future. 

Similar to other public bodies in Wales, the council has committed 

to implementing the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

2015, and ensuring a healthy net zero carbon future will contribute 

to all the well-being goals in the Act.  

One of the 7 well-being objectives in Gwynedd-Council-Well-being-

Statement is to ‘take advantage of the beauty of the county's 

natural environment’; and ‘responding to the climate change 

emergency’ is one of 8 Improvement Priorities in the Gwynedd 

Council Plan 2018-2023: 2021/22 Revision. 

 

 

P
age 20

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/low-carbon-delivery-plan_1.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-10/net-zero-wales-carbon-budget-2-2021-25.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-10/net-zero-wales-carbon-budget-2-2021-25.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/environment-wales-act-2016-overview.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/environment-wales-act-2016-overview.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-10/well-being-future-generations-wales-act-2015-the-essentials-2021.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-10/well-being-future-generations-wales-act-2015-the-essentials-2021.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Documents---Council/Strategies-and-policies/Gwynedd-Council-Well-being-Statement-2019-20.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Documents---Council/Strategies-and-policies/Gwynedd-Council-Well-being-Statement-2019-20.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Documents---Council/Strategies-and-policies/Gwynedd-Council-Plan-2018-23/Gwynedd-Council-Plan-2018-2023-21-22-Review.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Documents---Council/Strategies-and-policies/Gwynedd-Council-Plan-2018-23/Gwynedd-Council-Plan-2018-2023-21-22-Review.pdf


 

5 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

We need to be reminded that Gwynedd Council’s commitment to 

reducing our carbon emissions is not a new statement. The council 

published its first Carbon Management Plan in 2010, and its Carbon 

Management Plan 2 in 2015. The Climate and Nature Emergency 

Plan is therefore an evolution of both its predecessors. 

2005/06 was chosen as the baseline year for both Carbon 

Management Plans, and at that time the total carbon emissions 

from our buildings, street lighting, waste, fleet and business 

transport was 31,155 tCO2e (further information on the meaning of 

tCO2e in ‘What is net zero carbon and why is it important?’). The 

council committed to reducing carbon emissions by 40% by 2021 

compared with its baseline year, but indeed exceeded this target by 

going further and faster. By 2020 the council’s carbon emissions 

were 13,003 tCO2e, a reduction of 58%. The Welsh Government 

methodology that we must now follow means that this total has 

changed – more about this in ‘Planning to achieve net zero carbon’. 

There can be no doubt, therefore, that the council is committed to 

working towards achieving the ambition of being a net zero carbon 

council by 2030. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

P
age 21



 

6 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

4. What is net zero carbon and why is it important? 

 

 

It’s inevitable that there will be some carbon emissions  from 

activities that cannot be avoided, and therefore if we want to see a 

world without any damaging carbon in our atmosphere then that 

carbon needs to be destroyed or absorbed and stored safely. This is 

the meaning of carbon sequestration (or ‘carbon removal’). 

Research and new technologies are being developed in order to 

understand how best to store carbon, but the most effective means 

of doing so at the moment are the natural methods where the 

carbon is stored in trees, plants, land and plankton. 

If the total amount of carbon released into the atmosphere is equal 

to the carbon absorbed back into the earth then we have reached a 

position of being ‘net zero carbon’ (also known as ‘carbon neutral’). 

 

 

 

Why do we need to reach net zero carbon? 

The increase in levels of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in the 

atmosphere if the main reason why the average temperature of the 

planet has increased, especially over the last half century. Both 

graphs below show the average yearly temperatures for the world, 

and for Wales: 

World average temperature 1850 - 2020 
 
 

 
 

Wales average temperature 1884 - 2020 
 

 
 

(Range of :   blues = cold / reds = heat) 

In turn, an increase in temperature leads to far-ranging implications 

that are very damaging for the environment, nature and for us as 

humans. The average temperature in Britain is now 1°C higher than 

it was a century ago, and sea levels are rising 3mm each year (UK 

Climate Change Risk Assessment 2017: HMGovernment). This may 

not appear to be significant, but we must remember that the 

Emissions Sequestration 

Net zero 

P
age 22



 

7 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) states that 

insects, which are vital for pollination of crops and plants, will loose 

half their habitats following an increase of 1.5°C, but the probability 

will double with an increase of 2°C. An increase of 1.5°C will lead to 

rising sea levels that will affect 6 million people living in coastal 

areas around the world, but an increase of 2°C will affect 10 million 

people. 

The target to limit global warming to “well below 2°C” compared to 

pre-industrial levels was set as part of the United Nations Paris 

Agreement 2015, and further strengthened at the COP26 

conference in November 2021. The COP26: The Glasgow Climate 

Pact declares: 

“The aim of the UK COP26 Presidency was to keep alive the hope of 

limiting the rise in global temperature to 1.5C, and the Glasgow 

Climate Pact does just that. Combined with increased ambition and 

action from countries, 1.5C remains in sight, but it will only be 

achieved if every country delivers on what they have pledged”. 

Even considering the minor differences in both timeline stripe 

graphs above, they clearly show the tendency towards a hotter 

climate is as true here in Wales as it is for the rest of the world. The 

need to keep the increase in temperature to 1.5°C or lower, and to 

reduce to effect of climate change already underway, is just as 

important here in Wales as it is in the Amazon rainforest or the 

deserts of Australia. 

 

If an increase in greenhouse gases in the atmosphere is the main 

reason for the increase in temperature, then it follows that we 

need to decrease the level of those gases in order to halt further 

temperature increases. The 3 greenhouse gases which have the 

biggest effect on climate change are:  

Most damaging greenhouse gases - 
 

• Carbon Dioxide 
(CO2) 

• Methane (CH4) 

• Nitrous Oxide (N2O) 

 
...measured together as one 
unit, and called CO2e 

Method of measuring carbon emissions – 
 

• Per kg – kgCO2e • Per tonne – tCO2e 
 

 

‘Releasing greenhouse gases’ or ‘greenhouse gas emissions’ are 

usually called ‘carbon emissions’, and by using terminology such as 

‘carbon reduction’ what is meant is the reduction in the levels of all 

greenhouse gases, and not only carbon dioxide.  

In order to be consistent with the measuring and reporting 

methods of the Welsh Government, UK Government and the IPCC, 

this plan will refer to ‘carbon emissions’, ‘CO2e’ and ‘net zero 

carbon’.  

P
age 23



 

8 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

5. Responding to the Effects of Climate Change

Thus far we have considered the importance of slowing down or 

stopping the process of global warming, and the need to reduce 

carbon emissions in the future. But what about the effects that 

global warming is already having on us here in Gwynedd?  

One of those effects is the increasing danger of coastal flooding as 

a result of rising sea levels, and the effects of flooding inland as a 

result of extreme weather or an increase in river levels. Both could 

lead to ruining consequences for people, homes, nature and 

agricultural land. 

The Coast 
 

Gwynedd’s coastline is one of its most endearing attractions, but 

there are far reaching implications to protecting all of its 180 miles. 

The responsibility to protect the coastline and to respond to coastal 

flooding lies with Natural Resources Wales and Gwynedd Council. 

During the autumn of 2020 the Welsh Government published its 

National Strategy for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 

in Wales (FCERM), and its aim is to reduce the risks for people and 

communities from flooding coastal erosion. This is a ten-year 

strategy and we as a council are committed to its implementation, 

and it steers our work for the future. 

 

 

Inland 
 

As a Local Lead Flood Authority, we as a council have a 

responsibility to control the risk of flooding from surface water, 

ground water and from smaller streams know as common 

watercourses. In accordance with this responsibility we work 

together with Welsh Government, Natural Resources Wales and 

other local authorities to develop a Local Flood Risk Management 

Strategy. Its main objective is to try and stop flooding incidents, 

and to respond effectively if they occur, but its other aim is to 

positively contribute to biodiversity and create access for residents 

to green spaces. 

 

This strategy will be completed 

during 2022/23 and therefore we 

haven’t set targets or projects in this 

plan at this point in time since it 

would be premature to do so. A 

programme for responding to 

flooding risk will be added to a 

revised edition of this plan for 

2023/24.  

  

P
age 24

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/the-national-strategy-for-flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-management-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/the-national-strategy-for-flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-management-in-wales.pdf


 

9 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

6. This Plan

This plan sets a target of net zero carbon for the activities and 

services that we as Gwynedd Council are responsible for. We 

intend to improve the way we provide services and run our 

organisation, and we’ll be able to measure this since most of the 

work is under our management. The Climate and Nature 

Emergency Plan therefore contains the steps we will take in order 

to change those services that we directly provide.  

The activities and projects that we will undertake to try and 

become a net zero council have been listed under the themes: 

Building and Energy, Mobility and Transport, Waste, Governance, 

Procurement, Land Use, Ecology, and all can be explored in 

chapters 7 - 13. 

It is not, therefore, the ambition of this plan to create a work 

programme or to measure if the carbon emissions of Gwynedd as a 

county will reach net zero by 2030 – but of course, reaching the 

council’s target will contribute greatly towards such an aim.  

Reaching our ambition of net zero carbon will be a significant 

challenge and we are honest in our prediction that we don’t have 

all the answers at the moment. More work needs to be undertaken 

by ourselves and others in order to find the most effective and 

successful ways of working in some areas. It is essential, therefore, 

to have an open mind and to learn about new developments, and 

to adapt this plan and our ways of working if evidence comes to 

light that warrants such changes.  

The Climate and Nature Emergency Plan is a document that will be 

developed and adapted regularly. We already know that we will 

include further information about our plans for flooding 

management by 2023/24, and we also need to work with partners 

and the communities of Gwynedd to plan how to positively change 

residents’ behaviour.  

On the other hand, there are several activities that we believe 

should be completed but that we have very little control over, or 

that we don’t have the finances to fund at the moment. Additional 

resources will be needed to address our ambition, and we hope 

that further funding opportunities arise from Welsh Government 

and other sources.  

We will co-operate and contribute towards realising ambitious 

plans, but we cannot fulfil them on our own.  

 

Partners 

It will be impossible for us as a council to achieve our ambition 

without working in partnership with a wide range of individuals and 

organisations. We provide services for, and alongside, so many 

other people and it is vital that we work together for everyone’s 

P
age 25



 

10 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

benefit. We will try to best of our ability to influence individuals 

and organisations to come with us on our journey. We will consult 

with our partners and with the communities of Gwynedd to 

measure the success of this plan and to see how best we can 

support them so that they may operate in as low carbon a way as 

possible.  

A list of our partners can be seen in chapter 14. It isn’t 

comprehensive, nor in order of priority, and we are open to discuss 

with any partner who also shares our ambition. 

 

How will we measure success?  

This plan will be monitored regularly as part of the council’s 

internal performance monitoring process, and information about 

the plan’s development will be shared publicly by the Cabinet 

Members Performance Reports to Cabinet meetings, and by 

Gwynedd Council’s Annual Performance Report. We also have a 

Climate Change Board which provides strategic guidance, and 

includes the council’s Leader, Cabinet Members, Chief Executive, 

Chief Officers, Biodiversity Champion and a representative of the 

Communities Scrutiny Committee.  

One element of regular monitoring is data collection of carbon 

emissions and sequestration, and we do this by following Welsh 

Government’s methodology (Welsh Public Sector Net Zero Carbon 

Reporting Guide). The results of annual data collation will be 

published in Gwynedd Council’s Annual Performance Report, and 

following publication we will also review this plan to ensure that we 

are on the right track to realise our ambition by 2030. 

We have already collected data on carbon emissions and 

sequestration for the years 2019/20 and 2020/21. We have some 

reservations about the methodology used, especially for measuring 

the procurement upstream and downstream chains, but this data 

gives us a base to measure progress. Since 2020/21 was an unusual 

working year because of the circumstances created by the Covid-19 

pandemic, we have chosen 2019/20 as our baseline year and we 

will compare progress against that year’s data.  

Data on carbon emissions is collected to measure activities in 3 

areas, or ‘scopes’: 

Scope 1 – Direct Emissions 

e.g. producing electricity or heat with assets owned by the 

council such as boilers; travelling in council owned fleet. 

Scope 2 – Indirect Emissions from Energy 

e.g. electricity, heat or cooling systems produced by third 

parties but used by the council. 

Scope 3 - Indirect Emissions 

e.g. goods produced by third parties and purchased by the 

council; staff commute or staff using their own vehicles for 

business travel. 

 

P
age 26

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-05/welsh-public-sector-net-zero-reporting-guide_1.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-05/welsh-public-sector-net-zero-reporting-guide_1.pdf


 

11 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

The Climate and Nature Emergency Plan runs concurrent with 

many other council strategies and policies, and indeed it is essential 

that the principles of this plan are entrenched across all the 

council’s activities. Many of the action points for the future are 

likely to sit within other strategies or action plans. A current list of 

active strategies is listed in chapter 15, but it is open to constant 

adaptation. 

 

Measuring carbon emissions and sequestration 

As already mentioned, we won’t know if we have reduced our 

carbon emissions and increased our capacity to absorb carbon 

unless we regularly measure both and compare the data with our 

baseline.  

This is not a new activity for the council. As mentioned previously, 

the council have had two Carbon Management Plans since 2010 

which were successful since we reduced our carbon emissions by 

58% between 2005/06 and 2019/20, bringing the total down to 

13,003 tCO2e. Successes include changing 90% of street lighting to 

LED lamps so far, insulating buildings and installing PV solar panels. 

Under both Carbon Management Plans we measured our carbon 

emissions from buildings, street lighting, waste generated by the 

council, council fleet and staff business travel. By today all local 

authorities must follow data collection methodology as set by 

Welsh Government, which leads us to measure many more 

activities in addition to those we measured up until 2019 – e.g. 

water use, biomass, emissions further up the supply chain (well to 

tank), staff commute, emissions from the process of producing 

goods or services we purchase (procurement), and we also cannot 

claim credit for PV energy exported to the national grid.  

Even though the council doesn’t control many of these additional 

activities, we must now report on all the emission generated by 

them. The emissions generated by procurement are calculated 

based on the monetary value of the goods or services we purchase. 

Put simply, the more we spend the higher our carbon emissions, 

regardless of what the goods are or how they are produced.  

It is therefore inevitable that the new data sets we collect will be 

much higher than those under both Carbon Management Plans.  

 

The following table shows the data collected for the baseline year 

of 2019/20 and for 2020/21 following Welsh Government reporting 

guidance: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 27



 

12 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

Total Operational Carbon Emissions over 2 years : 

 2019/20 

Total tCO2e 

2020/21 

Total tCO2e 

 

Buildings and PV (photovoltaic) 11,549 8,594 

Street lighting 1,101 931 

Fleet 5,145 4,729 

Waste 7,331  

Business travel 1,944 919 

Staff commute 5,623 5,701 

Total 32,693 20,874 

 
Procurement 

 
40,639 

 
39,959 

Total including procurement 73,332 60,833 
 

There are several reasons why the total has already fallen by 

2020/21: stopping waste going to landfill and changes in working 

practices as a result of Covid-19 are examples.  

 

The following charts show the total and percentages of emissions 

across several fields: 

 
 

 

Procurement 

Others 

73,332 

P
age 28



 

13 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

 
We also follow Welsh Government methodology to measure the 

total carbon that land owned by the council is able to absorb. The 

table below shows the different types of land to be measured, and 

the total carbon absorbed (sequestration).  

Measuring total carbon sequestration: 

Lands 
2019/20 

Total tCO2e 
2020/21 

Total tCO2e 
▪ Forest land 
▪ Grassland 
▪ Wetlands  
▪ Settlements 

 
5,893* 

 
5,893 

 

*based on 2020/21 figures 

 

Gap that needs to be closed to achieve net zero carbon: 

2019/20 32,693 – 5,893 = 26,800 tCO2e (67,439 
tCO2e with 
procurement) 

2020/21 20,874 – 5,893 = 14,981 tCO2e (54,940 
tCO2e with 
procurement) 

 

Planning to achieve net zero carbon 

We need to close the gap of around 26,800 tCO2e by a combination 

of reducing our emissions and increasing our capacity to absorb 

carbon. Regardless of the potential to increase carbon 

sequestration (more on this in 12. Land Use) it is true that we need 

to concentrate on substantially decreasing our emissions, and our 

activities and projects intended for achieving this are outlined in 

the following chapters (mainly scopes 1 & 2): 

7. Buildings and Energy 

8. Mobility and Transport 

9. Waste 

We can support all the work in these areas by strengthening our 

internal procedures, and more on this can be found in the 10. 

Governance chapter. 

 

32,693 

P
age 29



 

14 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

The 11. Procurement chapter outlines our plans to begin the 

substantial challenge of reducing the carbon emissions within the 

supply chain, or the goods and services that the council purchases 

(scope 3). 

Lastly, the 12. Land Use ac 13. Ecology chapters outlines our 

responsibilities to use our land to its maximum potential for carbon 

sequestration from the atmosphere, and to support nature and to 

increase biodiversity so that we build a green Gwynedd for the 

future. 

 

Finance 

Chapter 6. This Plan has already explained that we don’t have, at 

this moment in time, the total funds needed to fulfil all the projects 

in this plan. Some projects have already begun and therefore we 

already have the costs and funding details. Others can be partially 

developed whilst we seek additional funding, and others are 

dependent on continued grant funding.  

There are also other projects that, for various reasons, we do not 

know what the full costs will be. We will need to undertake further 

work, or to co-operate with others, to calculate those costs.  

Nevertheless, our current financial position does not stop us from 

starting or continuing to implement the projects outlined in this 

plan. Information about the estimated costs can be seen in 

chapters 7 – 13. 

 

Timetable 

Chapters 7 - 13 lists the projects we aim to realise and sets a 

timetable for their implementation. Here’s a summary: 

Short term 2022/23 – 2023/24 Years    1 - 2 

Medium term 2022/23 – 2026/27 Years    1 - 5 

Long term 2022/23 – 2029/30 Years    1 - 8 
 

  

P
age 30



 

15 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

7. Buildings and Energy

As the Carbon Management Plan 2 came to its conclusion in 2020 

the Welsh Government Energy Service (WGES) were appointed to 

assess the opportunities to reduce carbon emissions across the 

council’s estate. A desk-top revision of current energy management 

practices was undertaken, along with a quantitative evaluation of 

the efficiency of council owned buildings, and further potential to 

save energy, reduce carbon emissions and costs.  

Our carbon emissions from buildings and PV in 2019/20 was 11,549 

tCO2e. The following projects will contribute towards reducing this 

figure, but substantial financial investment is needed in some 

areas, such as solar farms, in order to bring this figure down to zero 

and beyond.

 

Planned projects -  

 Ambition Activity Timetable 
Projected 
costs £ 

tCO2e savings – 
whole life cycle 

7.1 Aim for long term benefits 
when planning building work 
or renovating buildings 

Drawing up a policy which will give guidance 
on the minimum technical standards for 
energy efficiency in new buildings or when 
extending an existing building. We will price 
work based on a ‘whole life cycle’ principle. 

Short term, 
then 
continuous 

No 
additional 
costs 

No direct savings 

7.2 Save 5% of carbon emissions 
from buildings by bringing 
them up to CIBSE ‘good 
practice’ standards 

Plan and implement a work programme to 
upgrade buildings. 

Medium 
term, then 
continuous 

Savings 

-225,000 

488 

P
age 31



 

16 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

7.3 Decarbonise the council’s 
energy supply 

We will move the energy supply for all the 
council’s buildings to a supplier who offers 
‘green energy’ by the end of 2022. ‘Green 
energy’ comes from renewable energy 
sources. 

Short term Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 
costs or 
savings 

 

Further work 
needed to measure 
carbon savings 

7.4 Increase our carbon ‘credit’ by 
creating solar farms to create 
energy that the council can 
use or sell 

Further investigate the sites already identified 
for potential solar farms, and draw up business 
plans based on the best carbon and financial 
benefits. 

Medium 
term 

Range from 
2,400 – 
18,956,000 

Year 1 effect = 

377 – 10,201 

7.5 Reduce our carbon emissions 
by expanding our use of PV to 
generate renewable energy 

Expand our current programme for installing 
PV systems (or solar panels) to more of the 
council’s assets. We will draw up business 
plans per asset but they may include offices, 
schools, care homes, leisure centres and car 
parks. 

Medium 
term 

1,862,000 7,234 

7.6 Use Passivhaus low carbon 
building practices for 
developing our innovative 
housing pilot 

We will continue to operate, and then 
evaluate, our pilot project to provide 
temporary accommodation in low carbon 
‘pods’ – further information in our Housing 
Action Plan. 

Short term 300,000 Further work 
needed to measure 
carbon savings 

7.7 Provide information and 
advice to Gwynedd residents 
about the advantages and 

Via the housing ‘one stop shop’ on the 
council’s website we will promote the 
opportunities available to save energy and 

Short term, 
then 
continuous 

500,000 No direct savings 

P
age 32



 

17 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

opportunities to use low 
carbon building practices 
when building homes, and 
about low carbon 
heating/energy systems 

costs by using low carbon methods of building 
and heating homes to try and avoid fuel 
poverty.  

We will also continue to work in partnership 
with community organisations who offer 
similar support in order to spread the message 
as widely as possible. 

7.8 Improve the fabric of council 
owned buildings to make them 
as energy efficient as possible 

Much has already been accomplished, but 
further work can be done in some instances 
along with continuous maintenance. 

Continuous 638,000 4,120 

7.9 Electrification of heating 
systems in buildings to reduce 
carbon emissions 

We will investigate the feasibility of installing 
electrification systems – or heat pumps – in 
buildings. Since substantial financial 
investment is needed for installation, further 
work needs to be done before choosing if they 
will be installed and which sites will benefit 
most. 

Medium 
term 

2,777,000 18,740 

7.10 Installing EC air fans in 
buildings in order to reduce 
the energy needed to run 
them in comparison to other 
air fans 

Electrical current (EC) air fans run on DC 
current rather than AC, and are managed 
digitally which leads to more efficient and 
quieter performance. We will investigate 
which of the council’s assets they will be 
suitable for and build a work programme 
accordingly. 

Medium 
term 

93,000 153 

7.11 Install individual room heating 
systems in order to reduce the 

Wireless technology enables us to manage 
individual radiators without the need for 

Short term 68,000 2,240 

P
age 33



 

18 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

energy needed to heat a 
building 

expensive wiring. This will ensure that rooms 
can be heated at different temperatures and 
also to turn off the heat when the room is 
empty.  

We will build a work programme, and prioritise 
installation in care homes. 

7.12 Upgrade specialised lighting in 
leisure centres in order to use 
less energy 

New technology allows us to use LED lighting 
in swimming pools and open-air playing areas.  

We will run work programme to upgrade the 
current lamps. 

Medium 
term 

107,336 254 

7.13 Upgrade street lighting and 
traffic signs in order to use less 
energy 

We have been running a programme to 
exchange the lamps from old SOX lanterns to 
new LED lanterns since 2015/16, leading to 
nearly halving the carbon emissions. 

We will continue with the remaining work 
programme and also investigate the need and 
advantages of dimming lights and its effect on 
biodiversity.  

Lastly, we will evaluate the project to learn 
lessons for the future and to plan a 
maintenance programme.  

Short term Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 
costs or 
savings 

 

Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

 

7.14 Stop the over-development of 
fossil fuel energy plans 

Act according to the Replacement Joint Local 
Development Plan and the Supplementary 
Planning Guidance on renewable energy or 
low carbon technologies, water preservation, 
and protecting biodiversity. 

Continuous No 
additional 
costs 

Dependent on 
plans which would 
have been 
submitted 

P
age 34



 

19 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

7.15 Maximise the benefits gained 
from implementing our energy 
and heating policies 

By monitoring the application of policies by 
our staff, and monitoring the technologies 
which operate the systems, we can target 
where improvements need to be made.  

We will use Energy Management Software to 
monitor electricity data, and make 
improvements where needed. 

We will offer training to staff to implement 
these policies. 

Continuous No 
additional 
costs 

4,000 

7.16 Equipment used within council 
buildings to be as energy 
efficient as possible 

Implement the Energy and Heating Policies 
and ensuring that bought ‘white goods’ have a 
A+++ rating.  

When hiring electrical equipment, priority will 
be given to those that can be switched off 
when not in use. 

Continuous Dependent 
on total 
sum of 
equipment 
purchased 
or leased 

 

Dependent on total 
sum of equipment 
purchased/leased 

 

7.17 Improving the energy 
infrastructure in Gwynedd and 
north Wales in order to 
support low carbon energy 
and transport systems 

We will contribute towards producing and 
implementing a Local Energy Plan under the 
leadership of Ambition North Wales 

Short term Work not 
started 

Work not started 

 

  

P
age 35



 

20 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

8. Mobility and Transport

There is great potential for the council to reduce the carbon 

emissions of our own fleet of vehicles, and we have commissioned 

studies to offer guidance on which new vehicles to buy in a time of 

ever-changing technological advances. We intend to move towards 

having a fleet of ULEV (Ultra-low Emission Vehicle). 

Carbon emissions from our fleet (which includes refuse and 

recycling vehicles) was 5,145 tCO2e in 2019/20, and emissions from 

business travel was 1,944 tCO2e. Both of these are within scope 2, 

but the total emissions from staff commuting (scope 3) was 5,623 

tCO2e. 

The following project will contribute greatly to reducing these 

emissions, and many are running in conjunction with energy 

projects which will increase our capacity to produce our own 

renewable energy (e.g. solar farm) or are dependent on expanding 

regional or national energy networks.

 

Planned projects -  

 Ambition Activity Timetable 
Projected 
costs £ 

tCO2e savings – 
whole life cycle 

8.1 Move away from using fossil 
fuel vehicles to a ULEV fleet 
(cars and vans) 

We will implement our Green Fleet Strategy, 
buying new vehicles when they become 
available. 

Short term 369,000 877 

8.2 Installing vehicle electrical 
charging points for council 
fleet 

We will expand our programme for installing 
electrical charging points beyond the existing 4 
sites to support the ULEV council fleet. 

Short term Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 

Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

P
age 36



 

21 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

costs or 
savings 

8.3 To have a low carbon, or 
carbon free fuel option for the 
council’s heavy vehicle fleet 

Contribute to the Deeside Hydrogen Hub 
project under the leadership of Ambition 
North Wales which is investigation the use of 
hydrogen as a fuel for heavy vehicles. 

In the meantime, we will trial sweeper vehicles 
and gritter vehicles in order to move away 
from fossil fuel dependent heavy fleet. 

Short and 
medium term 

888,000 2,108 

8.4 Installing vehicle electrical 
charging points for Gwynedd 
residents 

We will install vehicle electrical charging points 
across Gwynedd for residents and visitors. 

Short term Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 
costs or 
savings 

Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

 

8.5 Reduce business travel The Covid-19 pandemic accelerated the move 
towards remote working, which in turn 
significantly reduced the need to travel to 
council offices to conduct internal and public 
meetings.  

Section 3 of the Wales Local Government Act 

also notes that meetings of the Council, Audit 

and Governance Committee and Scrutiny 

Committees may be held using a combination 

of virtual hybrid and face to face working 

Short term Could be up 
to -550,000 
financial 
savings, but 
further 
research 
needs to be 
undertaken 
following 
changes in 
working 

Could be up to 445, 
but further 
research needs to 
be undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

 

P
age 37



 

22 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

practices, but that the remainder of the 

council’s meeting may be held virtually. We 

will continue to encourage staff and elected 

members to prioritise virtual meetings and to 

keep to a minimum the need to travel for face 

to face meetings. 

practices 
during the 
Covid-19 
pandemic 

8.6 Reduce the carbon emissions 
of staff commuting 

The council has formed a partnership with the 
Tusker company to offer a ‘green car’ plan, 
with the majority of staff members eligible. 
The plan offer staff the opportunity to drive a 
brand-new car, including maintenance and 
insurance costs, for three years for a set 
monthly sum  

We will promote this option to become an 
electric car owner, especially when vehicle 
electrical charging points are installed on the 
council’s estate.  

We will also encourage staff to use public 

transport or walk or cycle to work where 

possible. 

Continuous Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 
costs or 
savings 

 

Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

 

8.7 Encourage active travel 
amongst staff – for health and 
well-being benefits and to 
reduce carbon emissions 

The council has formed a partnership with 11 
companies in Gwynedd to offer most staff the 
opportunity to hire a bike, which can include 
electrical bikes, on condition that they are 
used 50% of the time for work commute. The 
bike can also be used for leisure which will 

Continuous Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 
costs or 
savings 

Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

 

P
age 38



 

23 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

bring additional health and well-being benefits 
for staff. 

 

8.8 Encourage active travel for 
Gwynedd residents and 
tourists - for health and well-
being benefits and to reduce 
carbon emissions from short 
car journeys 

The council has invested in many cycle routes 
over the past few years, and we will promote 
these to encourage residents and tourists to 
use them for walking or cycling to work, to 
shop or for leisure. 

We will also promote and encourage the use 

of public transport, walking and cycling as we 

develop our sustainable tourism strategy. 

Continuous Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 
costs or 
savings 

 

Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

 

8.9 Reduce carbon emissions and 
parking problems in areas 
popular with tourists 

Work in partnership with Snowdonia National 
Park on a travel plan for popular hot-spots -
e.g. foot of Snowdon, Dyffryn Ogwen – in 
order to reduce car journeys and encourage 
the use of public transport. 

Short term Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 
costs or 
savings 

 

Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

 

8.10 Increase the opportunities for 
community organisations to 
have access to EV or ULEV 
vehicles 

Our programme, Arloesi Gwynedd Wledig, will 
support individual community organisations or 
umbrella organisations to experiment with 
new low carbon technologies or use low 
carbon vehicles. 

Continuous Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 
costs or 
savings 

 

Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

 

P
age 39



 

24 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

9.  Waste

It has already been explained that we calculate our carbon 

emissions by following Welsh Government methodology. The figure 

of 7,331 tCO2e of carbon emissions from council waste in 2019/20 

stems from the practice at the time to send waste to landfill. By 

2020/21 no waste was sent to landfill, with all the council’s waste 

being sent for safe burning, hence the emissions figure for ‘waste’ 

in 2020/21 was down to zero. The carbon emissions from waste 

sent for recycling or burning is accounted for under the figures for 

‘fleet’. 

We will always seek opportunities to go beyond the target of net 

zero carbon, and therefore the following projects have been 

planned so as to maintain our target and also to promote the 

principles of a circular economy. Here we hope to reduce waste as 

much as possible whilst simultaneously encouraging economic 

activities and community regeneration.

 

Planned projects -  

 Ambition Activity Timetable 
Projected 
costs £ 

tCO2e savings – 
whole life cycle 

9.1 Repair, adapt and sell goods 
which would otherwise be 
disposed of as waste 

We are currently adapting the Llandygai 
recycling depot in Bangor and will open a shop 
which will sell goods that have been repaired or 
adapted. We will continue to support this 
project. 

Continuous Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 
costs or 
savings 

Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

P
age 40



 

25 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

9.2 Reduce the amount of goods 
deposited as waste by 
encouraging residents to 
repair and re-use  

Our Repair Café project will establish a network 
of centres/cafes across the county to train local 
residents with the skills to repair and re-use 
goods rather that dispose as waste. 

Short and 
medium term 

226,000 Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

9.3 Promote a circular economy 
in order to reduce the 
amount of goods sent to 
waste sites, and the carbon 
emissions in the supply chain 
from buying new goods 

We will run and then evaluate the ‘Pethe’ pilot 
project. This project will be managed by a third 
party in 3 locations across Gwynedd and its aim 
is to be a borrowing ‘library’ for goods – e.g. 
toys, goods for the home or garden. 

Short term 33,222 Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

9.4 Reducing food waste by 
supporting community 
projects that share surplus 
supermarket food 

Continue to support the existing 11 community 
food hubs by providing information and advice 

Continuous No 
additional 
costs 

No direct savings 

9.5 Reduce the street waste sent 
for disposal and increase 
street waste sent to be 
recycled.  

As part of our Clean and Tidy Communities plan, 
and our street cleaning programme, we will 
start a new pilot programme to install recycling 
bins in our communities.  

We will also install technologies in our bins that 
will compress waste and measure when bins are 
ready to be emptied. This will lead to fewer 
journeys for our heavy fleet vehicles. 

Short term 35,000 Will be measured 
at the end of the 
pilot project 

9.6 Reduce paper use Before we were hit by the Covid-19 pandemic 
we had begun a project to measure our paper 
use across all the council’s offices with the aim 

Short term Further 
work 
needed to 

Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 

P
age 41



 

26 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

of reducing use, and reducing the amount of 
energy used to run printing machinery.  

With the majority of staff now working from 
home, paper use has decreased significantly, 
but it’s important to complete this project in 
order to learn lessons for when staff return 
partially or full time to our offices. 

measure 
financial 
costs or 
savings 

 

measure carbon 
savings 

 

 

P
age 42



 

27 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

10. Governance

This chapter outlines the changes we believe need to be made in 

order to support the rest of the activities in this plan. By making 

changes to internal practices we as a council can create the best 

possible circumstances for our elected members and staff to take 

decisions and to act for the sake of our planet.  

Much of the planning work behind this plan, and its revision in the 

future, is done in partnership with other organisations and 

communities. This underlying principle supports the projects listed 

below, and for many others outlined in this plan.

 

Planned projects -  

 Ambition Activity Timetable 
Projected 
costs £ 

tCO2e savings – 
whole life cycle 

10.1 Elected members and staff 
who: 

• Understand the 
consequences of climate 
change 

• Take decisions based on 
information about the 
consequences 

• Operate in the most 
positive manner possible in 
order to alleviate the 
effects of climate change 

The council needs a workforce informed 
about climate change and ecology in order to 
take responsible decisions, and to act to 
reduce carbon emissions.  

We will introduce a continuous training 
programme for elected members and staff on 
the fundamental principles of this plan, and 
will investigate the need for further 
information or training in specific areas.  

The training will reinforce the clause already 

in staff job descriptions that states they will 

Short and 
medium 
term 

No additional 
costs – funded 
by central 
training costs 
or provided by 
Welsh 
Government 

 

No direct savings 

P
age 43



 

28 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

and to be ecologically 
positive 

act according to the Carbon Management 

Plan. 

10.2 Encourage staff to develop 
their careers in fields which 
will lead to reducing the 
effects of climate change or 
are ecologically positive. 

We will use the council’s successful 

apprenticeship programme to encourage 

more new apprentices to follow careers in 

fields such as biodiversity and energy. 

Continuous No additional 
costs – funded 
by the 
Apprenticeship 
Scheme 

No direct savings 

10.3 Review current policies and 
strategies so that reducing 
carbon emissions or alleviating 
the effects of climate change 
are factors when making 
decisions 

Implement a continuous programme of 
reviewing decision making and policy 
guidance, giving advice on which conditions 
can be set. 

Short term, 
then 
continuous 

No additional 
costs 

No direct savings 

10.4 Sharing information publicly 
about the council’s work to 
reduce carbon emissions in 
order to influence others to do 
the same 

We will create a ‘one stop shop’ on our 
website which will include all the information 
about the council’s activities on this topic, 
and links to useful information on outside 
websites. This will be reviewed and updated 
regularly. 

We will share information and examples of 

good practice via our social media platforms 

in order to try and influence residents to 

change their practices. 

Set up – 
short term 

 

Maintain - 
continuous 

No additional 
costs 

No direct savings 

10.5 Support communities to plan 
and provide local answers to 
local needs 

Our programme of developing Local 
Regeneration Plans/Our Area will identify the 

Short term, 
then 
continuous 

No additional 
costs 

No direct savings 

P
age 44



 

29 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

different priorities and concerns that may lie 
in different communities across the county.  

We will work alongside local communities 
and partners who provide services in order to 
implement the ambition of this plan. 

 

  

P
age 45



 

30 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

11. Procurement

Welsh Government data collection guidance leads us to collect data 

about council expenditure on goods and services provided by 

outside suppliers. These vary widely from auditing services or 

advertising costs to purchased goods such as food or personal 

protection equipment for schools and care homes.  

Our carbon emissions under the ‘procurement’ heading is 

measured solely on expenditure, and not on any efforts to reduce 

costs or carbon emissions by ourselves or our suppliers as part of 

the process of setting contracts.  

The total carbon emissions from all our procurement activity, by 

following the methodology explained above, was 40,639 tCO2e in 

2019/20, which comes under scope 3. 

Gwynedd Council has operated its Sustainable Procurement Policy 

since 2011, where we consider the possible social, economic and 

environmental effect of our procurement decisions, and which 

steps we can take to make best use of council spend for the 

county’s benefit. ‘Reducing the negative environmental effects by 

better choice and use of goods, services and work’ is an aim within 

the policy.  

 

We will continue to implement the Sustainable Procurement Policy, and will develop the following projects - 

 Ambition Activity Timetable 
Projected 
costs £ 

tCO2e savings – 
whole life cycle 

11.1 Provide support for the 
market, especially local 
companies, to be able to 
measure the effect of their 
actions on their carbon 
footprint 

We will continue to work with Busnes Cymru 

and others to introduce a programme of 

information to support businesses. This will help 

them reduce their carbon emissions without 

impairing their ability to submit tenders for 

work. 

Continuous No 
additional 
costs 

No direct savings 

P
age 46



 

31 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

11.2 Understand and measure 
carbon emissions when 
delivering contract in the 
supply chain 

We will continue to review our own processes 
to set criteria for assessing tenders so that we 
can be sure that we are measuring the 
environmental impact of contracts. 

Continuous No 
additional 
costs 

No direct savings 

 

 

  

P
age 47



 

32 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

12. Land Use

Responsible management of council owned land will reap many 

benefits. Not only can it offer life to many species by protecting or 

even saving them, but our land is also a natural carbon absorbing 

machine and we should maximise its potential.  

Our assessment to measure the carbon sequestration capacity of 

all the council’s land in 2020/21 showed that it could absorb 5,893 

tCO2e. This assessment is based on the following types of land: 

Forest land A combination of different trees: native, 
evergreen etc. Some will be dense, and 
other will be populated by less trees. 
 

Grassland Combination of land where grass grows – 
some are not cut whilst others are cut 
regularly, e.g. playing fields, school grounds 
or road verges.  
 

Wetlands Land containing peat; land regularly 
covered in water; lakes and rivers. 
 

Settlements Any developed land that doesn’t already 
appear under another category, e.g. 
buildings. They may include: multipurpose 
playing fields, transport infrastructure, 
‘grey’ pre-industrial land. 

We acknowledge that further work needs to be done in order to 

fully and correctly measure the carbon sequestration potential of 

our lands – e.g. types of trees, constitution of soil etc. This is a very 

common problem for many local authorities and organisations and 

we will therefore work with others to form a programme to collect 

data and manage our land for the future. 

Flooding 

Another element of the work needed to treat and protect our lands 

are the steps needed to alleviate the effects of flooding. The 

council has already partaken in many projects in coastal areas, e.g. 

Fairbourne, and has responded to many occurrences of flooding in 

inland areas. Climate change has of course contributed to most of 

the increase in flooding and therefore unfortunately those 

instances are likely to increase.  

We are currently working with Welsh Government, Natural 

Resources Wales and other local authorities to draw up a Local 

Flooding Strategy. Its main aim will be to try and stop instances of 

flooding and to respond effectively if flooding occurs, but it also has 

a purpose to positively encourage biodiversity and provide access 

for residents to green spaces. 

This strategy will be completed in 2022/23 and therefore we 

haven’t set any targets or projects within this plan since doing so 

P
age 48



 

33 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

would be premature. A full programme to respond to flooding will 

be added to this plan for 2023/24. 

The work to respond to flooding will tie closely with our work to 

maintain our land and biodiversity, since changes in one could 

adversely affect the other. For example, maintaining wetlands or 

planting trees high up in a valley could reduce the amount of water 

flowing down into rivers and causing floods lower down the valley. 

Many of the projects in this chapter, and the following ‘Ecology’ 

chapter will contribute to alleviating the effects of flooding.

 

Planned projects -  

 Ambition Activity Timetable 
Projected 
costs £ 

tCO2e savings – 
whole life cycle 

12.1 Identifying the contribution 
that council owned trees can 
make to carbon 
sequestration and reducing 
the possibility of flooding 

Accelerate our programme to correctly measure 

data from council owned trees for their success, 

or not, in carbon sequestration 

Short and 
medium term 

Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 
costs or 
savings 

 

2,715+ 

12.2 Identifying the contribution 
that council owned lands can 
make to carbon 
sequestration and reducing 
the possibility of flooding  

Accelerate our programme to correctly measure 

data from council owned lands for their success, 

or not, in carbon sequestration 

Short and 
medium term 

Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 
costs or 
savings 

 

3,612+ 

P
age 49



 

34 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

12.3 Create tree nurseries to grow 
trees ready for planting 

Work in partnership with other organisations 
and educational institutions to create tree 
nurseries 

Medium 
term 

Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 
costs or 
savings 

 

Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

 

12.4 Identify opportunities to 
plant trees as part of the 
National Forest for Wales 
initiative 

Work in partnership with Welsh Government on 
their National Forest for Wales initiative and 
increase the numbers of trees to be planted 

Medium 
term 

Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 
costs or 
savings 

 

No direct savings 

12.5 Manage Ash Dieback in trees 
and to make good for any 
carbon emissions as a result 
of cutting down trees 

Continue with our programme to identify and 
treat ash dieback.  

Ensure, if a tree needs to be felled, that another 
tree is planted in its place, in conjunction with 
other tree management projects in this plan 

Continuous No 
additional 
costs 

Carbon neutral 

12.6 Forest land owned by the 
council are protected so that 
we maximise their potential 
to absorb carbon and be 
habitats for nature 

Improve our management of the current 4 
forest lands, and any other new forests the 
council may plant, so that they are healthy and 
robust for the future 

Continuous Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 

2,715+ 

P
age 50



 

35 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

costs or 
savings 

 

12.7 Protect agricultural land in 
Gwynedd to be used for 
suitable purposes, and to 
contain forestation projects 

At its meeting on 2 December 2021 Gwynedd 
Council adopted the following:  

The Council calls on the Welsh Government to: 

• Urgently amend the eligibility of their 
Glastir (GWC) grant so that only active 
farmers in Wales are able to apply. 

• Introduce planning development legislation 
to enable local planning authorities such as 
Gwynedd to control afforestation projects. 

• It is vital the Welsh Government moves to 
protect Wales’ rural environment and 
resources for the benefit of a new Green 
circular economy and to strengthen Welsh 
industries, communities and services. 

Medium 
term 

No 
additional 
costs 

No direct savings 

 

  

P
age 51



 

36 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

13. Ecology

Gwynedd Council declared a climate emergency in 2019, but we 

now believe that we also need to give equal weight to the nature 

emergency since both co-exist in parallel. Losing natural habitats 

for wildlife can increase the carbon levels in the atmosphere and 

changes in temperature and rainfall can affect the distribution of 

wildlife habitat.  

It is evident that the result of global warming is having a 

detrimental effect on the natural world, even here in Wales, and 

that we need deliberate action if we are to protect our fragile eco-

systems for the future.  

Our ambition is to not only protect the natural world and 

biodiversity in our county from the harmful effects of climate 

change, but also to strengthen it so that nature can positively 

contribute to the battle for carbon sequestration, as explained in 
the chapter 12. Land Use. 

We want to be an ‘ecologically positive’ council, not only in a 

climate change context but because we believe that nature has an 

immeasurable worth of its own. One of seven of the council’s well-

being aims is to ‘take advantage of the beauty of the county's 

natural environment’, and the ‘importance of protection of the 

natural environment’ and ‘promoting the use of natural resources 
to improve health and well-being in the long term’ are two out of 

nine key messages in the Gwynedd and Anglesey Well-being Plan 

(Public Service Board).  

In June 2021 Welsh Government declared a Biodiversity Emergency 

and noted: “There is an inherent value in biodiversity and the 

benefits it offers people through eco-systems such as flood 

alleviation and food production. We therefore believe that 
biodiversity loss leads to a risk to public safety and well-being”. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 52



 

37 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

Planned projects -  

 Ambition Activity Timetable 
Projected 
costs £ 

tCO2e savings – 
whole life cycle 

13.1 Identify the steps we need to 
take to protect nature 
habitats and biodiversity for 
the future 

Review the Biodiversity Action Plan by the end 

of 2022 
Short term No 

additional 
costs 

No direct savings 

13.2 Identify valuable species and 
habitats and which measures 
need to be taken to protect 
and restore them 

Natur Gwynedd (Local Nature Partnership) to 

create a new Nature Restoration Plan for 

Gwynedd based on the Wales Nature 

Restoration Plan published by Welsh 

Government 

Short term No 
additional 
costs 

Dependent on the 
content of the 
Nature Restoration 
Plan for Gwynedd 

13.3 Increase the number of 
pollinators by protecting 
habitats or creating new 
habitats 

Transform the Ffridd Rasus and Llwyn Isaf 
landfill sites to become wildflowers meadows.  

Use the Local Places for Nature programme to 
maximise the potential of schools’ land by 
planting flowers and plants suitable for 
pollinators (insects/bees). 

We will continue with our programme to 
maintain grass verges on our roads and to 
control the frequency and locations of grass 
cutting in order to support biodiversity, where 
it’s safe for drivers and pedestrians. 

Medium 
term 

400,000 Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

 

P
age 53



 

38 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

13.4 Support voluntary and 
community organisations, 
and town and community 
councils who wish to protect 
or promote wildlife 

Use the Local Places for Nature programme to 
kick-start new projects and to continue with 
others – e.g. getting rid of alien species in the 
Ffestiniog area; manage the Lôn Cob Bach 
nature reserve in Pwllheli 

Medium 
term 

No 
additional 
costs 

Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

 

13.5 Encourage and maintain 
Gwynedd residents’ interest 
in ecological matters so that 
they wish to protect natural 
habitats 

Encourage and maintain Gwynedd residents’ 

interest in ecological matters so that they wish 

to protect natural habitats  

Continuous Further 
work 
needed to 
measure 
financial 
costs or 
savings 

 

Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

 

13.6 Protect valuable habitats for 
nature 

Work in partnership with Natural Resources 
Wales, town and community councils and the 
RSPB to maintain 8 nature reserves across 
Gwynedd. 

Continuous No 
additional 
costs 

Further research 
needs to be 
undertaken to 
measure carbon 
savings 

 

 

  

P
age 54



 

39 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

14. Partners

As has been noted several times, Gwynedd Council cannot fulfil all 

the work that needs to be done to achieve our ambition of being 

net zero carbon by 2030 on our own. Many of the projects 

mentioned in this plan should be planned and implemented in 

conjunction with other organisations. We as a council are also 

prepared to contribute to developing ideas or undertaking projects 

which are led by other organisations.  

Below is a list of partners with whom we will be working to realise 

this plan. The list isn’t in priority order and we will be adding to it 

and changing it often –  

 

▪ Gwynedd and Anglesey Public Services Board  

▪ Ambition North Wales 

▪ Energy Service (Welsh Government)  

▪ Gwynedd Community and Town Councils 

▪ Anglesey County Council  

▪ Conwy County Borough Council 

▪ Denbighshire County Council  

▪ Flintshire County Council 

▪ Wrexham County Borough Council 

▪ Natural Resources Wales 

▪ Welsh Local Government Organisation 

▪ Snowdonia National Park 

▪ Natur Gwynedd 

▪ RSPB 

▪ Y Dref Werdd 

▪ Partneriaeth Ogwen 

 

P
age 55



 

40 
Climate and Nature Emergency Plan / Gwynedd Council  

15. Strategies and Policies

Further information about some of the action points mentioned in this plan already 

exists in other published documents. Rather than repeating this information here 

you can turn to the following documents for further reading (not all are published 

on our website) -  

 

Gwynedd Council Plan 2018-2023 

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 

Gwynedd Housing Strategy 2019-24  

Gwynedd Council Housing Action Plan 2020/21 – 2026/27  

Gwynedd and Anglesey Well-being Plan (link to Public Services Board website)  

Replacement Joint Local Development Plan  

Sustainable Procurement Policy and Guide  

Tree Preservation Order  

Energy Policy 

Heating Policy 

Lighting Policy 

Green Fleet Strategy 

Corporate Assets Strategy   

 

P
age 56

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Strategies-and-policies/Corporate-plans-and-strategies/Gwynedd-Council-Plan-2018-23.aspx
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Performance-and-spending/Council-performance/Performance-Measuring.aspx
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Strategies-and-policies/Housing/Gwynedd-Housing-Strategy.aspx
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Residents/Documents-Residents/Housing-documents/Housing-Action-Plan.pdf
https://www.llesiantgwyneddamon.org/Uploads/Pages/Documents/3-5-3-96-2-Gwynedd-and-Anglesey-Well-being-Plan.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Strategies-and-policies/Environment-and-planning/Planning-policy/Joint-Local-Development-Plan/Cynllun-Datblygu-Lleol-ar-y-Cyd-diwygiedig/Replacement-Joint-Local-Development-Plan.aspx
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Documents---Council/Strategies-and-policies/Sustainable-procurement-policy.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Residents/Planning-and-building-control/Trees-and-hedges/Tree-Preservation-Order.aspx

	Agenda
	4 MINUTES
	5 UPDATE - PARKING REVIEW
	6 CLIMATE AND NATURE EMERGENCY PLAN
	Climate and Nature Emergency Plan


